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How often have I said to you that when you have eliminated the impossible, whatever remains, however improbable, must be the truth?
Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, The Sign of Four


In the end, only the truth will do




Foreword


Penny Graham’s Whatever Remains is one of the most extraordinary books based on historical research it has been my pleasure to read in a career as an historian spanning four decades. Anyone who believes, as historians must, that the past is in one way or another ultimately discoverable from the evidence will surely be astonished and delighted by both the story she tells, and how she tells it.


Whatever Remains is not just an account of the solving of an historical mystery — or, rather, a whole series of them. It is also the story of a woman who, realising that the version of her family history that she had been told could not be true, set about discovering the truth. In that it is a book that demonstrates the importance of historical identity: humans are not just creatures of the moment — our past matters to us.


Penny’s quest became history in three dimensions: in time, of course, but also in space and in that essential dimension of British social history, class. Penny’s research reached back from suburban Canberra to the turmoil of the opening weeks of the Pacific war (she herself must have been the youngest evacuee from Singapore in 1942), but also to the Russian empire almost a century before. Geographically, her search took her to a convent in Malaysia, to rural Britain (where the book begins), and even to Astrakhan in Russian Central Asia. Without giving the story away, she found that the astonishing evidence she uncovered exposes the social history of early 20th century Britain and the possibilities its empire offered for individuals to remake their personal and family backgrounds.


The result is a book that offers an engrossing, exciting and ultimately satisfying account of both who her father was and who he became, and the chronicle of how Penny was able to crack the deception, fantasy and lies she had been given and find both the truth and the family that falsehood had denied, all through painstaking and tenacious research.


Penny’s is an intensely personal story but it resonates far beyond the peculiar circumstances of her background. Historians, and anyone who seeks to understand the human past, ground their endeavours in humanist values, principal among which are a respect for evidence and a desire to use that evidence to reach a justifiable truth, however unpalatable. The book’s title derives from Sir Arthur Conan Doyle’s words, mouthed by Sherlock Holmes, that after applying a process of logical reasoning ‘whatever remains, however improbable, must be the truth’. Not that Conan Doyle, who believed in spiritualism and fairies, necessarily acted upon his own aphorism, but in this case it is abundantly demonstrated through careful historical research that however unlikely it may seem, the story she tells is without doubt verifiable.


Whatever Remains offers a splendid example of a woman who, without any formal historical training (though with the aid of a dedicated husband), set about establishing the truth of her family’s history using little more than the fundamental technique of asking logical questions of a scant documentary record and fragments of (not always reliable) family hearsay. That Penny Graham has succeeded so triumphantly demonstrates both the value of the classic western historical method, but also the power of human familial affection: the desire to know one’s origins and to connect with those to whom we are related.


I commend to you Whatever Remains as one of the most impressive pieces of historical research you are likely to encounter.


Prof. Peter Stanley


University of New South Wales, Canberra


December 2014




In the beginning …


I inherited a history — straightforward, simple even. Many families tweak the truth a little here or there to enhance their family’s past or to pull a veil over the less desirable aspects. My history on the face of it appeared perfectly acceptable, enviable even. As a child, I was given an account of where my past lay, of my family and its traditional British upper middle-class background. As a young adult, I began to progressively question the elements of that neat little history all packaged up and presented to me as the truth of my ancestry. With the passing of time and the surfacing of unexplained events, my disbelief of the so-called facts grew and grew until finding the truth of my family’s past became one of the driving forces of my life. And so began a voyage of discovery that would last for nearly 40 years.


In February 1942 when the supposedly impenetrable island of Singapore fell to the Japanese army, luck and circumstance brought a young family safely to the shores of Western Australia. This was my family.


The disaster that was the downfall of Singapore presented life-changing opportunities for my father. Opportunities that would give my mother a new nationality and history and would allow my father to shed once and for all of the shackles of a family he no longer wanted.


The canvas of my parents’ lives spreads itself through many countries and over many oceans. Theirs was a world where nothing was necessarily as it seemed and in every twist of fate they saw opportunity. A paradox to the very end, my father took many of the details of his early life with him to his death. To understand the essence of the man was near impossible, for in between the truth of it lay a million possibilities.


Discovering my mother’s true ancestry took me twice around the world to foreign lands whose language and culture belie the mild English-speaking woman my mother appeared to be. The shame of it was that I was never able to really get to know her as she died so very young.


My journey to discover my roots brought together the many twists and turns, false leads and dead ends that led ultimately to a new ancestry and a network of family that stretches far and wide across the world. This story, like all good stories should, unravelled itself in its own good time. Not when I wished, but little by little down the years of my life.


I have held tightly to my fragile strings of memory. Holding on, keeping them safe. Now, with this story I have pulled them together and woven them into the tapestry of my family’s history — adding new facts when they presented themselves, fleshing out old memories and trying to make sense of the past. For to know your past is to know where you belong in the world.


As children, we inherit our traditions, values and many of our ideals from our parents. What we do with them as adults is up to us.




Part One


When I was little, very, very little, and feeling sad, my father could always manage to put a smile on my face by reciting my favourite nursery rhyme; a guaranteed way to have me smiling and happy again. He would hold my small foot in the palm of his long, elegant hand and, tweaking the biggest of my toes, he would begin:


This little piggie went to market …
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Chapter 1


A perfect autumn day, Somerset 1984


My mind travels back to a day many years ago, and if I close my eyes I can almost smell the soft rich fragrance of the newly mown fields and the sweetness of the hedgerow flowers, and feel the crunch of the gravel beneath my feet.


Here, in this foreign landscape, is where it all began — the realisation that what I had been told of my family’s history was a sham. The autumn sun sat low over the hedgerows spreading marmalade shadows deep across the road. I was late for the village bus. Running up the hill towards the village store, I saw my Kind Lady with an anxious look on her face, my small suitcase at her side. The bus and I arrived at the same time. She bundled me on, giving me a smile and a squeeze on the arm and a ‘good luck, dear’ as the bus pulled out.


The bus wove through the small country lanes that bordered the patchwork fields of the English countryside. The last rays of the sun stained the dry-stone walls between the fields a warm pink. St Michael’s grey spire grew smaller and smaller as the bus wound its way down the hill. The tip of the spire would be the last thing I saw of that small village in Somerset.


Hot forehead resting on the cool glass window, I watched the village slip away, my warm breath misting the glass. The bus was heading back to Taunton, a large bustling rural town in the County of Somerset where I was to catch the night train back to London.


My journey had been another dead end, another bitter disappointment. Three days ago I had set off from London with such high hopes. This time, I was sure I would find my true identity, my real family, my roots. But I found nothing and the mystery of my family’s origins was to only deepen in this little English village on a perfect autumn day.
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Yesterday the bus had brought me to the small village of Milverton. I was here to explore a possible new lead I had uncovered at the Taunton Local History Library the day before. The bus and I parted company at the top of a rise where the green fields of the valley had given way to smallholdings, then an assortment of grey stone cottages, a garage and a small shop.


Imagine if you will, a slim woman of middle height and middle years stepping off that bus alone with her overnight bag and high expectations. Two men worked on a car at the garage, music playing loudly from a small portable radio — the men laughed, heads bent over the open bonnet. They did not look up, so I chose the shop as my starting point.


Opening the door, the smell of an overly full larder — warm and fruity — enveloped me. Shelves of packaged food, jars and tins sat happily side by side with rat traps, boxed candles and packets of matches. It was warm inside, a pleasant change from the sharp morning air.


A pair of smiling eyes and mop of crisply permed grey curls just showed over the top of the counter at the back of the shop. The eyes and curls rose to reveal a compact woman, wrapped firmly in a floral house coat topped with a bright pink cardigan. Much less scary, I thought, than a couple of men in greasy overalls, all testosterone and loud voices.


I asked about overnight accommodation in the village. She soon realised I was not from these parts; in fact, I was an Australian seeking information about her English ancestry. A wife, a mother, and a long way from home — my obvious vulnerability brought out her motherly instincts. She gave me a reassuring smile. ‘The Dutch House takes B&B but you are a bit out of season. But, try them anyhow. No harm in asking, they may well be happy to take your pennies even this late in the season.’


I then and there dubbed her the Kind Lady, and over the next day and a half her kindness and helpfulness sustained me. When I needed a friend to seek advice from or just to talk to, there she was, in her worn easy chair behind the counter. Always ready to talk, a smile on her face, her knitting on her lap.
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The ‘Dutch House’, so-called, I assumed, because of the Dutch gable of its roof, was indeed quite happy to take my pennies. The house was well situated just off the main street of the village, large and well maintained with a pleasing view over the valley. My hostess-to-be led me to a pleasant room under the gabled roof. We negotiated more pennies for an evening meal, as the village did not run to a restaurant and ‘the pub don’t do rooms now, nor tea, but you’ll get a good midday dinner there’. So after settling up, I made my way back to the warmth and friendliness of the Kind Lady’s shop.


‘Well,’ she mused, ‘he’s mostly home on a Saturday. Writing his sermon, I should think. Yes, try there first. Even though he’s only new around here he can show you the church register and you can do a walk around the gravestones. But, my dear, I’ve lived here all my life and knows a thing or two about the village and I never heard of that there name you said. But hurry on over there now before they take their midday dinner.’


The church was, as it often is in English villages, on the top of the gentle hill that the village had spread itself around. A few steps up from the road, I passed through the neatly trimmed hedge to the impressive timber gates. The sharp tangy smell of a yew tree mixed with those of damp grass and damp stone. St Michael’s Church, with its warm worn stonework and modest tower, had aged well. Built in the late mediaeval period to withstand the centuries, it was small but solid and well proportioned. This was a building that proclaimed with every piece of rough-cut masonry that it was here to stay.


There was a diminutive but well-maintained graveyard surrounding the church. Many of the older headstones leaned this way and that and, although crumbling and disfigured with lichen and moss, they were still dignified in their state of disrepair. A well-worn path led from the church entrance through a small opening in the hedge to a modest grey stone rectory.


The door opened. He looked every inch a country vicar — even down to the grey of his baggy cardigan, which harmonised with the stone work of his church. Of middle height and middle appearance, he looked bemused by the sight of me on his doorstep. He also looked compassionate. I sighed with relief — a friendly face.


The vicar of St Michael’s may well have been a new boy to the area, but he was not new to the task of being needed. Patiently accepting of the interruption to his morning’s work, he listened to my ‘abbreviated for strangers’ story. We walked to the church to inspect the church records. These were the days when the parish register could be kept in the church and church doors could be left open. Arson, vandalism and poor box pilfering had not as yet arrived in the village.


Nothing. No names that matched. No baptisms, banns, marriages or burials. No names that matched my name or the name I had discovered at the Taunton Local History Library and considered might be mine. So much for intuition! As the bus rolled into the village that morning, I had had a strong feeling that this was a significant place, a place that, even though I had no memory of it, was somehow important to me and my family. And it would be here that I would begin my final journey.


And so it was to be; only it was to take me another three decades to recognise it.
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We sat looking at each other across the time-scarred table, the parish register closed on the table between us. Frustration flooded through me, and the sharp tang of my disappointment hung in the air, mingling with the musty smell of the damp grey walls and worn leather binding of the book lying between us. Caught within a shaft of sunlight from a small high window, dust motes floated by, quiet minutes with them.


Finally, he sighed and patted my hand; a silent comfort. What could he say? ‘Shall we have a walk around the graveyard?’ he suggested. ‘Maybe we will see a name there.’ I think we both knew that this was just a way of breaking the impasse, a way of acknowledging that no matter how carefully we looked through the dog-eared pages, the copperplate script was not going to deliver what I so desperately wanted to see.


The strong midday sun had by now lifted the small graveyard from peaceful but forlorn to bright and brave. We strolled among mossy grey headstones, looking but not really seeing — just going through the motions.


A voice from the rectory calling the vicar to lunch saw us go our separate ways, he towards the gate in the hedge and a plate of something suitable for a hard-working vicar, and me to my Kind Lady for a dusty snack and a piece of fruit from her overcrowded shelves.


I had, of course, confided to her my reason for coming to her village. Again the much abbreviated version. ‘Well, love, it’s not all gloom and doom. Maybe they were not church-going, or preferred to go to one of the bigger churches in town. Maybe one of those new style modern churches.’ She gave me a quizzical look. ‘There’s a fine Catholic church in Taunton.’ I knew we were clutching at straws. The stories I knew were of how the family walked to church three times each Sunday, rain, hail or snow. And my father would tell of the quiet summer mornings hearing the bells across the fields from his bedroom window. If this was the town, then this was the church, of that I was sure.


‘Well then, how about talking to some of the older village folk; they may remember your family.’ Her knitting needles clicked thoughtfully, the grey curls bobbed. ‘Plenty of folk here would be happy to talk about the old days.’ She gave me a conspiratorial grin. ‘Can’t shut some of them up.’


Mid-afternoon saw me almost swamped in a very large soft-cushioned armchair with a dainty cup and saucer in my hands in the snug little home of Mr and Mrs Arthur (two of my Kind Lady’s ‘older village folk’). After a tour of their impressive and very large vegetable garden, I had been led through to the ‘best room’, tucked into the best armchair and presented with a cup of tea in a fine rose-patterned cup by the bustling Mrs Arthur.


The Arthurs were a pigeon pair, both short, round of girth, bright of eye and pink-cheeked. The major difference was that Mrs Arthur was wrapped tightly in a floral house coat while Mr Arthur sported a pair of grey trousers held up with wide brightly coloured braces. They must have wondered why someone would bother to come from the other side of the world to ask questions about folks who may or may not have lived in their district. But they put their astonishment aside and gave my queries their full attention.


‘No, no, I don’t remember no family in the village or close by with that name,’ Mr Arthur mused. There was a lot of shaking of heads, pursing of lips. ‘T’was one family out at …’ naming a farm on the outskirts of the village ‘that was mighty strange. But not of that name, no.’ We all three of us paused and gave a moment’s thought to consider that ‘mighty strange’ family. More shaking of heads and then came the serious business of telling me the life story of the village. It all sounded very familiar.


It was a small village, now too close to the larger market town of Taunton to keep its independence. The school had closed and many of the shops had dwindled away, after trying to ‘modernise’ but failing. There was still a butcher, post office, florist cum garden centre, newsagent, garage, my Kind Lady’s all-purpose store and a thriving chemist. The village still had a pub, a small medical practice, its own church with vicar, a public phone and a twice daily bus service. Enough, the Arthurs thought, for all their needs.


They were being as helpful as they could, but you can’t manufacture a piece of history just to suit an enquiring stranger. Facts were facts, and the fact was that no-one in this village had heard of my family’s name — my mother’s family name or my father’s family name, or a name like either of them, or a family whose image could be moulded into something that sounded like them. The house, the family, the very existence of a family that fitted the description was simply not there. The church register, the grave stones, the vicar and long-time inhabitants all said one thing. Not your name, not your family, not here, not known in this village.


We chatted on for some time till I judged it best to let them get back to their comfortable lives and for me to have a look around the village and use that most important piece of equipment — the very British red public phone box.


The main street of the village lay coiled round the gently sloping hillside. A few shops interspersed with well-maintained houses and the pub on the lower side, church, rectory and graveyard on the higher side. Although it was obvious the village had seen bigger and better days, the remaining shops looked as if they were there for the long haul. The local chemist, now calling itself a pharmacy, had hijacked its neighbour, expanded sideways to include a gift and souvenir section and was obviously doing a steady business. I ducked my head into the pub. It looked inviting with its small lounge bar and open fire burning in the grate. The aftermath of the ‘midday dinner’ smelt good, the warmth inviting. I would love to have sipped a gin and tonic or even a simple glass of sherry with the convivial hum of quiet voices around me and the warmth of the friendly fire on my face, but this was 1984 and I would have felt uncomfortable, a woman alone in a bar.


The phone box stood on the corner of the high street and a small lane running down to clusters of village cottages. It was well lit, and the phone was working. Home and family seemed suddenly very close. It was good to be able to talk. Noisy kids chattering in the background, a radio playing — home sounded like it always did, cheerful and boisterous. I told my husband all about my unsuccessful day and yesterday’s equally unsuccessful search of the Taunton Archives Office. Everywhere I turned, it seemed I faced a brick wall. We spoke for a little while then, reluctantly, I left the security of the phone box and headed for my pre-arranged dinner at the Dutch House. As the evening closed in, a fine mist swept across the village and a rising fog crouched at the end of the laneway. I hurried down the main street, glad of my warm coat and the closeness of my temporary accommodation.
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My night at the Dutch House was memorable for being uncomfortable. The bed was narrow and lumpy, the sheets lollypop pink and scratchy. The bathroom at the end of the hall unheated and like the bed sheets, pink. A large claw-footed bath, no shower and only tepid trickling water decided me that ablutions would be kept to the absolute minimum.


By morning, the mist and drizzle had lifted. A bright day brought promise and renewed hope. After breakfasting on my now familiar tray in the den, I bid my hopefully-never-to-be-seen-again hostess goodbye. My small case, my coat and I hurried to the Kind Lady’s shop, fearful that it would be closed on Sunday. I now knew her to be Beryl but she would always be the Kind Lady to me.


‘No, no, love, I lives in the back so I don’t keep regular hours. I’m no churchgoer now and I’m as comfy here as I am in my back room.’ And so she looked, with the warmth of the shop, her knitting, magazines, sweet wrappers, and armchair. Cosy and comfortable she looked and mighty glad I was to lean my elbows on the counter and tell her of my miserable night wrestling with the scratchy sheets.


Since our last meeting, she had had another thought. ‘B… Farm,’ she announced, after we had dealt with the sheets, my cool reception at the Dutch House. B… Farm had a large Queen Anne-style house on some acres of land just below the village. It was apparently owned now by a retired family from Taunton, but for many years previously it had been owned by a ‘posh’ family who’d been considered by the village a ‘bit queer’, a bit ‘hoity toity like’. My Kind Lady did not remember much about them as they had moved out of the area soon after World War II. ‘I was still living at home then, and me and Ben was courting.’


Why is Time such a tyrant? I would love to have been able to settle down and hear her story — learn of her youth, her dreams, her battles, her life. I sensed there would be some sadness in the story. Despite the easy smile, the comfortable manner, my Kind Lady had a strength about her that told of hardship and determination. But this weekend was mine. Time was not a luxury I had. No time to sit and reminisce.


The house, she said, had been left to shift for itself as the farmer next door had bought it for its valuable riverside land and had not used the house. ‘Great shame it was too,’ she said, ‘lovely old house going to ruin. I was ever so pleased when the house was sold to Mr and Mrs Knox.’ The farmer had evidently divided the farm and sold the house with just enough land to create a garden.


She had heard my story. Well, some of it. She knew the house I was searching for where my grandparents used to live was close enough to the village church for my father to hear the bells ringing on a Sunday morning. There had to be a river nearby where he and his brothers had fished and there had to be black and white marble tiles on the floor of the main hall. ‘I can’t say about the tiles, dear, I have never stepped inside myself. Why not take a walk down there and have a look around? It’s not so far for strong legs like yours and I can mind your case and coat. Tell Mrs Knox I suggested you call. She’s a nice lady, I’m sure she will put you straight about the hall tiles.’


I bought some sad-looking pieces of fruit, a couple of dusty fruit and nut bars and a small bottle of apple juice to sustain me through the day. I would picnic, I thought, sitting by the hedgerows, and dream of often told stories of little boys playing in the garden, playing till dusk and the call for supper sent them scurrying in. As a child, I loved to hear of my father’s childhood memories. Of the adventures, or more often, misadventures, he and his brothers had had growing up in their big old country home, or the stories of his school days at an exclusive public school where he boarded from the age of eight.


‘Don’t forget 4.30, on the dot. No later mind, as the bus waits for no-one.’ She sent me on my way, pressing a chocolate bar into my hand. I suspect my Kind Lady did not hold with a fruit and nut bars kind of lunch. By the number of sweet and chocolate bar wrappers on the arm of her chair I could see she enjoyed a little sweetness in her life.
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The bells of St Michael’s were ringing out across the valley as I left the village. The sun warmed my back and put a spring in my brisk walk. I had been told to take the road out that the bus had brought me in on, then at the bottom of the hill to take the small lane leading to a wide river valley dotted with small farms and some larger prosperous looking houses. Great for retirement I thought. Close to a major town for shopping, a handy little village for emergency items and medical care and such pretty scenery. Not for the first time I thought how appealing rural Somerset was.


It wasn’t far. Not half an hour’s brisk walk from the fork in the main road, I saw the gate and letter-box inscribed with curly black lettering telling me that here was B… Farm. A wide gravel drive swept up to a neat two-storey house. The house sat comfortably in an orderly garden and the whole contrived to give the place a most welcoming look. I don’t know about my forebears, but I could live here happily, I thought. Shyness overcame me. What would they make of an Australian woman on their doorstep asking if there was, or ever had been, black and white marble tiles on their hall floor? I lost my nerve and decided to keep going to see how far the house was from the small river that I knew snaked through the valley. The road wound through some of the loveliest country imaginable, fields greener than emeralds, clumps of huge oak trees and fields of golden stubble where the grain had recently been harvested. In the distance, a rise of hills folded gently down to the flatlands of the valley. Across the fields, I could just make out a row of willows delineating the line of the River Tone.


The sun was warm, the chocolate bar melting in my pocket. An early lunch would help ease my nerves. A few minutes walk revealed a climbable gate set back from the road. The field was large, its crop recently harvested. I made a comfortable nest in the hedgerows and sat back to enjoy my snack in comfort and smell and listen to the peace of that warm autumn day. The air was full of birdsong and butterflies, the hedges bursting with hawthorn and bunches of white Queen Anne’s lace.


As I languidly licked the last of the melted chocolate from my fingers, there was a loud bugle call and the howling of dogs. From the opposite corner of the field bounding dogs and leaping horses exploded through, and over, the hedgerows. I’d never seen a fox hunt before! What a spectacle. Red coats astride magnificent horses, such a show of passion and force. A kaleidoscope of colour, a cacophony of sound.


I didn’t see their quarry, and I hoped the dogs didn’t either. They must have ridden from further down the valley as I had neither seen nor heard the gathering for the hunt nor the bugle calls in the village that morning. On such an idyllic and peaceful day, I mused, why would you want to ride with such cruel intent?


The sight and sound of the retreating mêlée faded slowly, the dust settling at their passing. Soon the soporific afternoon again imposed its quietness on me.
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Taking courage in both hands, I knocked on the door of B… Farm. She was frail looking, gentle faced and dressed in soft blue-grey skirt and cardigan. I introduced myself and told her that ‘Beryl from the village store’ had suggested she may be of help. We both smiled with mutual kind thoughts of ‘our’ Beryl.


I was ushered into a comfortable looking sitting room. Cool but not cold, traditionally furnished in discreet chintz with soft rugs on the dark stained timber floors. Mrs Knox was helpful, but could not help. The house was in disrepair she said, when they bought it some years ago. But no, there was no sign of tiles of any colour ever having been in the entrance. ‘Just the wooden flooring, dear, that you saw as you came in,’ she said. It was now restored and partly covered with a runner. She did not know the family that had lived here before or anything about them. Another dead end.


When I was 12, on one of our family’s visits to England, my father had brought my brothers and me to a house somewhere in Somerset and we had stood in the hall surrounded by black and white tiles. My father had disappeared into a room in deep discussion with the house owners. Later, as we drove away, and we children had quizzed my father on why we had visited the house, he told us that he was looking at buying or renting it. I was thrilled as I thought the hall the most impressive of entrances, almost a palace. He said the house seemed very suitable for our needs and the tiled entrance hall reminded him of his family home. The buying or renting came to nothing, but from that day on I always saw his family home as having a front hall of ample proportions resplendent with black and white marble tiles.


I reluctantly started back up the valley to the crossroads that would lead me to the village. I could see that I would have to pick up my pace to be at the bus stop by 4.30. Turning the corner into the main road to the village, I started up the hill at a run.


[image: images]


As the bus took me back to Taunton, I had time to recall, and mentally catalogue, the failures of the long weekend.


My first stop when I reached Taunton on Friday morning had been a visit to the impressive Taunton Public Library. With its sweeping lawns and park-like gardens, it fronted the aptly named Pleasant Street. Passing through the towering columns into the massive reading room, I spent some time searching for someone who could help me with my family history queries. I was then directed to the less impressive but far more useful Local History Library on Castle Green, a short walk away. It looked a solid no-nonsense sort of place, a place that, I hoped, would give me answers.


David, the librarian who was on duty that morning, had listened to my story — a slightly longer version than I was used to telling — with interest. David looked very young, to my middle-aged eyes, but earnest and eager to help. I would find out during the day that he may have looked half my age but he knew his stuff. He listened attentively, not hurrying me, his fine reddish hair drifting down across his thick-lensed glasses.


I told him of my suspicions that the name my father used, the one on his passport, was not the one he was born with and that the date of birth on his passport was also wrong.


My husband, Lindsay, had done some painstaking research at St Catherine’s House, the repository for records in London, and found that no-one of his name and place of birth had been born within five years of his supposed date of birth. After many lunch-time forays into the musty depths of St Catherine’s, he would bring home slip after slip of notes on birth index entries. Some with a name or date or place of birth that had looked promising, but on careful scrutiny, none had been right.


So the stories of my father’s childhood were all I had to go on. Stories of his stern but just father, an architect and the MP for Taunton; his gentle, loving, but very unworldly, mother. Stories I knew so well, but now knew to be something less than true.


The details on my mother’s passport didn’t add up either. There was no record of her, on or around her supposed date of birth. Both my parents, according to the records in St Catherine’s, did not exist.


My sad chronicle of possibilities, probabilities and misinformation had been a little more interesting than David’s usual run-of-the-mill genealogy enquiries. We spent the rest of the morning and then most of the afternoon together, going through the history of the area with a focus on information on the local members of parliament in the early 1900s. My grandfather, so Father’s story went, was the member for Taunton early that century — so that was the starting point. Since there were no members of parliament with what I thought was my grandfather’s name, I had to assume I was looking for a family with a different name.


Father’s passport listed Milverton in the County of Somerset as his place of birth. Again, foolishly I later learnt, I used this as another starting point. We found a likely family who had lived on the outskirts of Taunton, not too many miles from Milverton. The family looked promising, not probable but maybe by stretching things a little, just possible. The number of children in the family did not add up, all the children’s names were wrong but their ages roughly corresponded to my father and his siblings and the father had been the member for Taunton for some years in the early 1920s. David found a photo of him in an old newspaper of the times and lo and behold there did seem to be a passing resemblance to my eldest brother. There he stood in faded black and white, resplendent in his frock coat, waistcoat stretched firmly across his ample stomach, bowler hat cradled on his right arm. How impressive he looked. How dignified. He looked like a grandfather anyone could be proud of. But was he mine?


After the initial excitement had flared and then simmered to a more ‘clutching at straws’ fatalistic attitude, I saw that being part of this ‘new’ family was far more likely to be a faint possibility than a high probability.


As the day, and my hopes, slowly dwindled, David peered earnestly over his glasses and warned me of the perils of looking for someone who, so obviously, didn’t want to be found. ‘If your father has managed to change his name and birth date and manufacture a whole family history, there’s usually a very good reason! Sometimes,’ he said quietly, ‘it’s better to live in the present — not to worry about where you came from, just be happy to be who you are.’ There was concern on his face. ‘You never know what you might find out and what effect it may have on your life.’ His obvious concern touched me. His kindness was reassuring. His was the first of many warnings I would have over the years of my search.
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Now on Sunday evening, on my bus trip back to Taunton, I closed my eyes and, hunched into the cracked brown leather seat, thought only of the comforts of getting home. My home, my family, a space and time that knew me for who I was. This, I thought, could well be the end of my search.


How wrong I was. It would be many years in the future, after many more false trails, that I would finally contact David again. It would be David of the myopic eyes and shy kind smile who would head me in the right direction in one of the most important journeys of my life.




Chapter 2


Unravelling the mystery, England 1984


The Old Country or Home were the euphemisms used to describe England when I was a child growing up in Australia. Despite my parents’ heritage, I never felt the pull of the old country, nor that I was anything other than Australian born and bred. Now here I was with my family happy to be spending six months in England. ‘What a wonderful experience,’ friends had exclaimed, as we told them of our plans for a year-long sojourn overseas. This trip, two years in the planning, was to accomplish three things: to give Lindsay work experience overseas, to open our children’s eyes to other countries and cultures, and to start unravelling the mystery of my past.


We had spent the first six months in Minnesota, USA. Lindsay worked with health maintenance organisations in the USA for six months, then for BUPA in London for the next six months. The health insurance firm he worked for in Australia would, it hoped, benefit from this knowledge and experience, and we, as a family, would benefit too. What a wonderful opportunity it was for us and how hard we had scrimped and saved to make it happen.


The farming community of Minnesota in the mid-west of America had been an eye-opener — big country, big state, big-hearted people. We had skied and played in the winter wonderland of snow and ice of a harsh northern winter. And when the spring came, we had canoed on its many lakes and walked its many prairies. After leaving our home in Long Lake, a few kilometres outside the twin cities of Minnesota and Saint Paul, we travelled some of the east coast of America using cheap flights for the long hauls and rental cars for the shorter distances. And, of course, we made sure that Florida was on our route so we could visit those icons of childhood desirability, Disney World, the Epcot Centre and Wet ’n’ Wild. Oh, so many people and never-ending queues, colour, noise, music and lots and lots of gimmickry. But how the children loved it!
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By the time we arrived in England we were all a bit shell shocked and weary from the hectic last few weeks of our sojourn in the USA. The people at BUPA had kindly organised a small three-up three-down semi-detached in Wood Green. After living there a few weeks, we realised that the name Wood Green meant exactly what it wasn’t. No woods to be seen and certainly no green! Just street after street of shabby semis just like ours.


After a few tearful episodes from me bemoaning the lack of grass for the kids to play on and not a rose-covered porch to be seen, we moved to Essex. The charming village of Ingatestone had it all: two pubs, a primary school, high school, adequate shopping, a bus to London and a direct train line into London. Perfect for our needs.


I had been particularly eager to spend the second half of our year away in England. It would give us the opportunity to do some exploration at St Catherine’s House where Births, Deaths and Marriages Records were then kept. A treasure trove of information and, in those computer-less days, so easy to access, as St Catherine’s was only a train or bus trip from our front door.


I was a product of my generation — married at 22, with four children by my early thirties. A mainly stay-at-home mum, with a part-time job that accommodated the need to be at home to see the children off to school at 8.45 in the morning and again to see them safely in the door at 3.30 that afternoon. Happy in my marriage, lucky to have four healthy and well-adjusted sons. Living in a comfortable home with enough money to put food on the table and educate the children. There was just one major thorn in my side, one nagging ‘family skeleton’ that just would not stay quiet.


Over the years, my suspicions had been growing that the stories my father told of his childhood and younger life were just that — stories. It was just too convenient to have lost all living relatives, with no living grandparents, no cousins, no aunts or uncles, nobody to dispute or question my parenthood. So many times as a child I had begged our father to tell me again the stories of his youth. I had loved to hear the exploits of a young boy growing up in early 20th century Britain. His memories were the only link my brothers and I had to an extended family life.


After a long and painful fight with tuberculosis, my mother died in 1952 when I was only 10. Maybe the vacuum created by her absence brought about the need to find family and have something more than just a father and two brothers in my life. My mother’s premature death had given me no opportunity to ask her about her family, her life as a child growing up in rural England. My father had told us very little about our mother and her life. Only that she had, by the time I was old enough to ask, no living relatives. From the time of her death, my mother’s whole life history became his property to do with as he wished.
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During early childhood, our family was constantly on the move. Shifting from house to house and country to country inevitably meant that I made no lasting childhood friendships and developed no sense of belonging. To me, the constant upheaval with minimal formal schooling all seemed quite natural. Because I knew no different, the absence of grandparents or relatives of any kind was equally unremarkable. Then, finally in the summer of 1956, my peripatetic father settled on the hot and sandy shores of Western Australia. Our roving days were over.


It was not until my late twenties that I began to seriously doubt his easy assurances about his lack of family. No photos of his early years graced our family sideboard. No mementoes of his or Mother’s childhood sat proudly on our mantelpiece. Like hatchlings from the egg of time, my parents just appeared with no tangible evidence of their past. The explanation, my father said, was the desperate struggle to get out of Singapore during the last days before the surrender in 1942. Almost everything was lost, he said, left behind when we abandoned our home just days before the Japanese army overran the city. To a young child it had all seemed plausible enough, but as I grew older I questioned why neither he nor Mother had tried to contact their respective families when the war was finally over. ‘All dead,’ Father would say with a sigh and a gentle shake of the head. War, that thief of time and family, had stolen a whole generation.
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Before we left Australia in 1984, I had applied gentle pressure on my father to tell me anything he could of his family in the hope that the research we planned to do in England would enable us to add flesh to the bare bones. Even though for many years I had been uneasy about the apparent gaps in our past, I had kept my misgivings from him. Although my father was charmingly mannered, quietly spoken and elegantly dressed, to openly question his word was unthinkable to us children. He was quite emphatic that he knew of no living relatives from either side of the family, could suggest no old family friends for us to contact, no favourite haunts of his youth to visit. He was evasive in specifics, unwilling or unable to remember facts relating to his early years. A certain closed look would appear on his face and you knew that it was pointless to proceed. So, I reasoned, six months in England would give me the opportunity to visit my parents’ place of birth, check the records of their ancestors and visit the places my father had spoken of in earlier years.


This was to be the first of our many journeys to the other side of the world in quest of my past. It proved a valuable and certainly enjoyable experience, but as for unravelling the many mysteries of my parents’ past, it resolved nothing. After a year away, I came home with more questions than answers.




Chapter 3


False stories from the past, 1908–1942


Even now, when I believe I know about as much as I will ever know of my father’s early life, I know very little. All I have are the stories told to me of his younger days growing up in England and of his life as a young man in Malaya. During the early days, when we three children would ask questions about our parents’ childhood as children love to do, Father would tell us stories from his boyhood. Of his and Mother’s early childhood years, of the voyage to the Far East he took as a young man and the many adventures he had there. His stories came as small vignettes, full of colour and action. Even when we were adults these false stories from the past never wavered.


When I was no longer a child, I began to suspect that many of these yarns were morsels of fact wrapped up in many layers of fiction. Without an extended family network to corroborate or debunk the stories, I had to take them at face value, until the cracks of disbelief became too wide for me to accept.


Then, later, much, much later, when I was starting to unravel the mystery that was my father’s life, I made contact with my cousins on my father’s side of the family and slowly started to make some sense of the few facts I had.


The tools I used for my quest for the truth were few: a husband with a good knowledge of genealogical research and never-ending patience and, initially, only a few photocopied letters, photos and documents. As small pieces started to fall into place, we were able to use birth, marriage and death certificates, English and Singaporean business directories, census records, war records, British and Australian shipping lists and newspaper articles. Slim pickings to reconstruct a life.


But I am jumping ahead of myself. I have threaded his vignettes together as best I can and rounded out the topography and geography of his world with some historical facts. They are his stories within a setting of the real world. The story I was brought up to believe of Father’s childhood and younger days went something like this …
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In 1908 my father was born in Milverton, a sleepy little English village just outside Taunton in the County of Somerset. He was christened Leslie Denis Emerson-Elliott but known as Denis by family and friends.


I will now refer to my father as Denis as it is this name he used for most of his adult life.


He was the fifth and youngest child born to well-to-do middle-class parents. His father, Theodore Stacy Emerson-Elliott, was an architect by profession and the Member of Parliament for Somerset for some years during the early 1900s. His mother, Rosemary Frances, was a gentle, unworldly woman devoted to her husband and children. She was a loyal, loving wife and the kindest of mothers, who ran the home with a sweet smile and a velvet glove.


Denis had, he said, the happiest of childhoods, growing up in a deeply Christian household where it was usual, in fact mandatory, to attend church twice and sometimes three times on Sunday. Their home was comfortable and substantial, his parents kind but strong disciplinarians, particularly his father. I always sensed, but was never told outright, that Denis had an ambiguous relationship with his father. He respected him, but father and son were not close. His mother, on the other hand, figured often in his stories and his relationship with her was one of adoration.


He would tell of the quieter times at home, of his love of literature and the times he would be reading by his bedroom window on Sunday morning and hear the bells of the local church calling the village to morning service. He told of the games he and his brothers played in the spacious gardens of his home before he was old enough to be sent away to boarding school.


He had four older siblings. The eldest, John, grew up to be a Church of England minister. He was married with two children, Denis and Dorothy. Tragically, while holidaying in Florida, he and his wife were killed in a car accident, orphaning their two young children. Father had no idea what had become of the children — brought up by their maternal grandmother, he suspected.


His second brother, Derek, was equally unlucky. The Great War was into its third year before Derek was old enough to join up. The minute he turned 18, he joined the RAF, only to be killed on his 19th birthday in 1918 when his plane, a biplane that he had just learned to fly, was shot down in the last months of the war. He was not married.


Denis’s third sibling, and the only girl in the family, was Helen. In her early twenties she married Frederick Dyble, who was to become the Solicitor General for Northern Ireland. Tragically, however, she was killed while out horse riding with her young husband on their honeymoon.


Lawrence, or Lawrie, was the brother closest in age and affection to Denis. It was Lawrie, the daredevil, the charismatic adventurer, who seemed to feature in most of Denis’s stories of adventure in his early childhood. Lawrie was married with one son. As soon as World War II was declared, Lawrie joined the RAF and trained as a Wellington bomber pilot. He was shot down in 1940 when 50 bombers attacked Sylt in Holland, but none returned. Father had lost contact with Lawrie’s wife and did not know of the family’s whereabouts.


So, all his siblings died in one way or another — how very convenient.


Tragedy seems to have dogged the family and I remember being in awe of Denis’s bravery in the face of the terrible loss of all his siblings and the early death of both his parents soon after World War II. Even though there must have been an extended family of aunts, uncles and cousins, Denis seemed to be at a loss as to their whereabouts. How could you lose a whole family? I wondered.


After leaving boarding school, he started a medical degree at King’s College, London but, after just one year, due to a disagreement with the Dean of the Faculty, he had switched universities and decided on Aberdeen to further his interest in tropical agriculture.


By 1930, Denis had completed a degree in Agricultural Science (Tropical) at Aberdeen University. As a 20-something-year-old, he left the family home in Somerset to travel to Malaya to carve out a career for himself.


Many years later when we were trying to track him down using academic records, we found that neither King’s College nor Aberdeen University had any record of an undergraduate with Denis’s name and no degree called Ag. Science (Tropical) was ever offered at Aberdeen University.


When Denis completed his degree, Britain was still suffering economic depression and jobs were not easy to come by. Denis believed there would be opportunity for advancement and a secure future for him in the Straits Settlements, a group of four territories that jointly constituted a single British Crown Colony.


If Britain was lacking in exciting opportunities, the Far East presented him with the chance to travel, to learn new skills and to make his mark on the world. He secured a job as a trainee rubber plantation manager for Dunlop Plantations Ltd. His initial training was on the Malayan peninsula on one of the Dunlop plantations. He was with Dunlop for four years before leaving to join the firm of Guthries in 1934.


Guthries was one of the largest rubber plantation companies in Malaya at that time. Its history dates back to the 1820s when the British colonial presence in South East Asia was making its mark. The company’s involvement in Malaya began indirectly with the purchase of crops for sale on the London commodity market. This eventually developed into acquisitions of many large rubber and oil palm estates throughout Malaya.


The oozing, glutinous sap, drained from fresh diagonal cuts made to the hevea trees in the ever-expanding rubber plantations that snaked across Malaya, was becoming an increasingly important commodity. Rubber was not the only ‘treasure’ to come pouring out of Malaya; half the world’s tin was scraped out of great mines that spread down the mountainous spine of the 400-mile long peninsula. Railway wagons continuously ferried their cargo along the old single-line railway from the Kinta Valley to Singapore Island, where they discharged the precious cargo into the hungry holds of tramp steamers that lined the docks of Keppel Harbour on the southern edge of the city of Singapore.


The life of the European rubber planter could be lonely. Many of the big Malayan plantations were miles from the capital, Kuala Lumpur. Living conditions in these rural areas were primitive. There was no piped water or sewerage systems, houses were basic wood and attap structures and medical treatment could only be obtained if you could get to town. Poor roads, the constant humidity, perpetual rain in the wet season, lack of effective medicine to combat malaria and the isolation of many of the plantations drove many a young planter to go ‘native’ or take to the bottle.


But not Denis — he seems to have thrived on the life of a trainee planter. Taking the humidity, isolation and demanding work in his stride, he made a new life for himself. Learning Malay and Tamil, enjoying the new foods that were on offer and participating in the active social life available when he and his peers got together when their work was done — this life seems to have agreed with him and kept him from becoming home-sick.


He was charming and hardworking, and success came easily to him. As he progressed up the ladder at Guthries, he sent home letters and photos to his family in England telling of the good life. The work would have been hard, conditions sometimes dangerous, and always very demanding.


Photos of this period in his life, shown to me by a cousin some 70 years later, picture him as a gregarious, happy looking young man, often with a bevy of young men and women around him, enjoying the gay social life of pre-war Malaya.


Despite the hard work of his job, he enjoyed to the full the life of a young, unmarried British male. Horse riding, polo, cricket, swimming and sailing — he was proficient in all. He and his friends spent the relative cool of the morning riding or swimming, then home for breakfast and off to work before tiffin (the midday meal prepared by the ever faithful ‘cookie’), with a nap under the cooling ceiling fan during the heat of the afternoon before finishing work for the day as evening approached.


At meal times, an unusual (for someone of European background) aroma drifted from the small kampongs (villages) dotted all over the Malayan peninsula — it was the smell of a mixture of spices, drying fish and blachan, the fermented shrimp paste that is an essential ingredient of Malay cooking. Once you become accustomed to this smell, you never forget it. Denis threw off his eating habits from ‘the Old Country’ and wholeheartedly embraced the new hot, tasty and aromatic dishes of the East.


The heat, humidity and insect-borne diseases took their inevitable toll on Europeans who chose to live and work in the tropics. Most of the larger employers whose staff were from the British Isles sent them ‘home’ for rest and recuperation. These home leaves were for periods of up to three months and were given to employees every two or three years.


During one of Denis’s visits home to England, he met my mother, Norma, at her 15th birthday party. He had been persuaded to join his parents when they visited their neighbours, the Briar-Roberts, to help celebrate the eldest daughter’s birthday. Briar-Roberts, my grandfather, was a rather eccentric man, a coffee broker in London’s Mincing Lane. He was also, so the story went, a cello player of note.


Denis and the other guests were standing in the entrance hall of the Briar-Roberts family home, when he looked up to see Norma coming down the elegant winding staircase in a simple white muslin dress, her golden hair framing her young and pretty face. It was love at first sight for both of them. During the afternoon they talked, getting to know each other. Although she was still only a girl, he fell deeply in love with her that memorable magic afternoon. ‘She was so beautiful,’ he would reminisce, ‘slim and tall with velvet brown eyes and golden curls, her hair put up for the first time to celebrate her approaching womanhood.’ He told us that, some years later, Norma had admitted that, at the end of that memorable night, she had said to her mother, ‘One day, I am going to marry Denis.’ And so she did.


When his leave ended and he returned to Malaya, he wrote often to her with news of his work and life in Malaya. Then, as the years passed, his letters became more ardent. Letters telling of his growing love for her. Three years passed and on his next home leave, when she had turned 18, he finally proposed marriage.


As a child, Norma lived a privileged but sheltered life. Home schooled with her two younger sisters, she was a retiring girl not comfortable in a crowd. Yet, on her 15th birthday, she chose to fall in love with a man 10 years her senior who lived on the other side of the world. What a love story.


What resolve and single-minded devotion she must have had to survive a three-year separation. And, as history revealed, her love did stay true till the end of her short life.


Sadly, Denis explained, Norma’s mother and her two younger sisters died in a bombing raid over London during a shopping expedition in 1940. Norma’s father, my grandfather, had died some years before.


Hmmm, so Norma’s family all died too. After losing your whole family in such tragic circumstances, I thought, it was no wonder my mother had often seemed so sad and quiet. Maybe it was because she felt the loss of her family so deeply, but I never heard her discuss her family or talk of her childhood days in Milverton. Not once, not ever. Her life seemed to begin with her marriage to Denis. Her childhood and family memories remained tucked firmly away, apparently too painful to mention.


Denis would tell of the long lonely days and nights he spent waiting for his future wife to arrive by ship with her parents for their wedding. He had returned to Malaya and his fiancée and her parents were to join him in Singapore where the wedding would take place.


Denis would sit, at the day’s end, on the veranda of his bungalow in the jungle and daydream of the happy times to come when Norma, his bride-to-be, would arrive. Or, with only the company of the small geckos that festooned the walls and the ‘house boy’ clearing up after the evening meal, he would put on his gramophone a recording of ‘Smoke Gets in Your Eyes’ and play it over and over again. He would sit, he would tell us, with a cigarette smouldering between his fingers, a glass of malt whisky at his side, dreaming of his true love whose ship was slowly ploughing its way across the Indian Ocean. He spoke of the relief at her safe arrival, of their marriage at St Andrew’s Cathedral in Singapore, of the happy times they had as a young married couple and their joy at the birth of their first born, a son.


In the early days of their marriage, Denis decided the life of a manager on a large rubber plantation was not a suitable existence for a family man. Life could be lonely and isolated, hardly the place to bring up children. They had spent their first few years in the bustling town of Kuala Lumpur (where their first son was born), but now it was time for a change. With a young child and another one on the way, he wanted stability. Always an entrepreneur with an eye to a good business deal, he decided to start his own business importing goods for the ever-growing Asian market and exporting timber, spices and artefacts. The bustling island port of Singapore was the obvious choice.


They set up house in a beautiful home overlooking the sea in a quiet outlying area of Singapore called Changi. Close to the swimming club where the family could relax in the pool or the fan-cooled reading rooms and close to the ocean to take advantage of any cooling night breezes, yet easy commuting distance to the city centre.


By the late 1930s, Singapore had developed into a strong commercial centre and an important trading port. Its city streets were lined with large emporiums and specialty shops selling all kinds of merchandise. The markets and side streets away from the city centre boasted smaller retailers, food shops displaying baskets of multi-coloured lentils, pungent dried fish and aromatic spices, the baskets and boxes of produce spilling out over the pavements to tempt the passer-by. Food stalls and ‘hole in the wall’ restaurants provided the constant crowds with a snack or tasty meal at any time of the day and night.
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... when you have eliminated
the impossible, whatever
remains, however improbable,
must be the truth.

Sir Arthur Conan Doyle,

The Sign of Four
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